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Socci, Superiorthedefendant, an order ofHicks, Stephen appealsTheJ.
J.) leading to his(.Delker, suppress evidencedenying his motion toCourt

facts, charges ofconvictions, stipulatedtrial onupona benchfollowing
drugof a controlled withdruga andmanufacturing possessioncontrolled

(2011). in318-B:2,1 arguesHe that the court erredintent to sell. See RSA
(1) anthe resulted from: unlawfulthe motion because evidencedenying

(2) thata consent to search wasproperty; subsequentof his andsearch
We vacatetainted unlawful search.involuntarily by priorthegiven and/or

and remand.
found, following facts. Onsupports,trial court or the record theThe

2011, Task10, Rockingham Drugfrom the ForceCountyofficersAugust
allegedlyhome he hadlearningthe after thattraveled to defendant’s

customarily forequipmentfrom a usedcompanyMassachusettspurchased
to conduct “knock and talk” inmarijuana. The officers intended agrowing

premises.to secure defendant’s consent to search theorder the
at the in two vehicles. Lieutenant JoelpropertyFour officers arrived

Johnson, and aOnge, deputyof the Police Chris St.Kingston Department,
County, the home while DetectiveRockingham approachedforsheriff

driveway inspectin the to aGeorge Wickson and another officer remained
they marijuana drivewaybelieved was Thegarage present.detached where

the and the Thegarage.is and extends between house detachedpaved
envelop[s]that Wicksonpavement “completely garage.”court found the the

vehicle,that,a he his hesuppression hearingat when exited wastestified
immediately by growing marijuana.”the fresh smell of fresh He“overcome

—that, anyupon walking garage by objecttoward the unimpededtestified
— covered, andblocking pathhis he observed that its windows were that

doors He around thethere was mildew on its and windows. walked
quicklyof the and an electric meter asperimeter garage spinningobserved

were, inwell as a smoke stack and blower. These observations his
“marijuanawhat court called growconsistent with the aexperience,

operation.”
Meanwhile, theOngeJohnson and St. knocked on door to the defendant’s

Socci, wife, answered door and allowedhouse. Melissa the defendant’s the
Theofficers into home after identified themselves. officerstheythe her

declined, explainingfor consent to search the but Melissaproperty,asked
Duringto her thistalkingthat she would not consent without husband.

conversation, fromthe officers received a radio communication Wickson
of that shegarage.his observations the Melissa testifiedregarding

communication, maythat she welloverheard this and'Johnson confirmed
Melissa her husband at hishave overheard the radio transmission. called

defendant, the for hisOnge phone,and St. asked the overworkplace,
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premises. declined,search Theconsent to the defendant but said he would
return to withspeakhome the officers.

arrived approximately twenty spokeThe defendant minutes later and
with and in theOnge driveway.Johnson St. Johnson informed the

him,defendant of the foragainstevidence and asked consent to search the
addition,In thegarage. spoke privatelydefendant with St. TheOnge.

parties conflicting testimonyoffered regarding transpiredthe events that
nearly that,next. defendant andThe Melissa offered identical intestimony

words,Melissa’s Johnson threatened the defendant that he would “leave an
the apremises[,]...officer on searchget warrant and ... come withback

crowbars,sledgehammers and that things getand would messy, people
ifwould arrested” thebe defendant did not consent. Melissa further

that, when Ongetestified she asked St. whether the officerswould take her
children, he “Justreplied, youas aslong cooperate, no wants to takeone[ ]
your kids.” Johnson recalled that he theassured defendant that no one
would day explainedbe arrested that and that an indictment would follow
if incriminating was onevidence found the Heproperty. testified that no

made, appearedthreats were and that defendantthe calm as he was read
Arizona, (1966),his see v.rights,Miranda Miranda 384 436U.S. and

areviewed consent form the officers provided.
ultimatelyThe defendant aconsented to search of his property by

the consent form.signing The officers searched the premises after the
provideddefendant them with keya to the found agarage; they “marijuana

grow inoperation” garagethe and other incriminating evidence within the
home. The was by Rockingham Countydefendant indicted a grand jury on

(1)two counts under the Drug knowingly manufacturingControlled Act: at
(2)pounds marijuana; knowinglyleast five of and possessing at least five

pounds marijuana 318-B:2,withof the intent to sell. See RSA I.
aThe defendant filed motion to “all ...suppress evidence as aacquired

result of the entry upon property,. subsequent. . and the[his] search” of
home,curtilagethe of groundshis on that thethe search “was not done

pursuant anyto warrant or pursuant any recognized exceptionto to the
requirement.”warrant hearingThe fromsuppression testimonyincluded

Wickson, Johnson, defendant,the and trialMelissa Socci.The court denied
(1)the and drivewaymotion determined that: the defendant’s “semi-was

(2)ofprivate” and thus “not deserving curtilage protection”;traditional the
defendant had no privacyreasonable of in the exterior of hisexpectation

(3)garage; given freely,and his consent to search knowingly,“was and
found onvoluntarily.” guilty appealHe was both counts. This followed.

On the that court inappeal, argues denyingdefendant the trial erred his
initial,suppress. arguesmotion He that ofto the warrantless search the

exterior his garage rightsof violated his state and federal constitutional to
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CONST, I,seizures, pt.N.H. art.and seefree from unreasonable searchesbe
CONST, IV,19; that unlawful search tainted“[t]he [the]amend. andU.S.

Alternatively,property.to his heprovidedthat he later searchconsent”
unlawful,that, search was not when thegarageif theargues [initial]“even

considered, subsequent] [toconsenttotality of circumstances is [histhe
“[i]nstead,...voluntarily,” butfreely, knowinglywas andgivennotsearch]

coerced.”was
to search his residencethat defendant’s consentThe State asserts “[t]he

by illegalfree, any priorand was not taintedknowing, voluntary,andwas
claim, argues onlyIn of this it first thatactivity.” support “[t]hepolice

he his consentgavethat the defendant was confronted with beforeevidence
marijuana,strong police] lawfully[thewas odor of fresh whichto search the

that thisdriveway.” “lawfullyfrom the defendant’s It contendssmelled
searches,”first distinctduringodor” detected the of “two whensmelled was

— pavedwhich was ... on a“parkedout of vehicle”“stepped [his]Wickson
homedriveway garage”of between the defendant’s and hisportion the

—toconstituting a “direct route the defendant’s house” andaccess
“immediately marijuana.”a odor of fresh Thestrongsmelled State

I, thefirst search violated neither Part Article 19 of Newcontends that this
tonor the Fourth Amendment the StatesHampshire Constitution United

search, itIt that a which does not contend wasarguesConstitution. second
lawful, when to walk toward the defendant’s“proceededoccurred Wickson

garage.”from areaand made visual “observations the aroundgarage” [the]
that, if . . . were anThe State concludes these observations“[e]ven

search, the notunconstitutional defendant’s consent was vitiated because
theby exploitationhis consent was not obtained of unlawful search

[, and,] [alternatively, purged.”. . . taint of that search wasprimarythe
the theFinally, argues totalitythat of circumstances estab-State “[t]he

free,that and consentgave knowing, voluntarylishes the defendant to
hissearch residence.”

a trial on to wereviewing ruling suppress, acceptWhen court’s a motion
supporttrial factual unless lack in the record orfindings theythe court’s

erroneous,clearly legalare and we review its conclusions de novo. State v.
(2014).Dalton, 263, (2013), denied,165 264 cert. 134 S. 1313N.H. Ct.

uponthe whetherplaces significant emphasisBecause defendant the
Constitution,was under the Federal we firstsearch lawfulpre-consent

McLeod,this the Constitution. See State v. 165address issue under Federal
42, (2013).47N.H.

provides,The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution
inthat of to secure theirpertinent right peoplein the bepart, “[t]he

houses, effects, against unreasonable searches andpersons, papers, and
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CONST,seizures, shall not violated.” U.S. amend. IV. “It is a basicbe
of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside aprinciple

a warrant are unreasonable.” v.presumptively Brigham Cityhome without
omitted).(2006)898,Stuart, “Nevertheless,403 (quotations547 U.S.

ofbecause the ultimate touchstone the Fourth Amendment is ‘reasonable­
ness,’ id.,is torequirement subject exceptions,”the warrant certain

circumstances,exigentreasonable searches under seeincluding objectively
id., voluntaryreasonable searches the of anobjectivelyand “with consent

overpossessing authority” premises, Georgia Randolph,individual the v.
(2006).103,547 109U.S.

Jardines,its (2013),In recent decision in Florida v. S. Ct.133 1409
the thatSupremeUnited States Court clarified the Fourth Amendment

a . . . :simple“establishes baseline theWhen Government obtains
intruding houses, effects,onby physically persons, papers,information or

a within original meaning‘search’ the of the Fourth Amendment has
Jardines, omitted).undoubtedly 133 at 1414occurred.” S. Ct. (quotations

that,The explained althoughCourt consideration of a defendants reason­
baseline,” id.,able expectation “mayof add toprivacy the the “reasonable-­

expectations to,test beenhas added not for,substituted the traditional
property-based Amendment,theunderstanding of Fourth and so is unnec­
essary gainsto consider when the government byevidence physically

areas,”onintruding constitutionally protected id. at 1417 (quotation
omitted). Jardines, case,In as in this it was thatundisputed police officers

physicallyhad on area immediately surroundingintruded “the associ­and
home,”ated with the known as the whichcurtilage, the Court “regard[s]...

as thepart 1414,of home itself for Fourth Amendment Id. atpurposes.”
omitted).1415 (quotations Accordingly, only question“the whether[was]

(evengiven[the defendant] had his leave for them toimplicitly) do so.” Id.
at 1415.

question,To answer this the recognizedCourt first outerthe
of a customarylimitations license that a occupanthomeowner or implicitly

— —provides to policevisitors toincluding curtilageofficers enter the of
his or her home:

implicitThis typically permitslicense the visitor to approach the
byhome the front knockpath, promptly, brieflywait to be

(absentreceived, and then to linger longer)invitation leave.
theComplying with terms of that nottraditional invitation does

itrequire fine-grained legal knowledge; generallyis managed
bywithout theincident Nation’s Girl Scouts and trick-or-treaters.
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may aapproachwith aThus, a not armed warrantpolice officer
anyknock, that is no more thanbecausepreciselyhome and

mightcitizen do.private

omitted). of theSetting anyaside consideration(quotationat 1415-16Id.
“That theof the Court held:expectation privacy,reasonabledefendant’s

ononly intrudingthey by physically [his]learnedlearned whatofficers
— which, noted, “is not whatthe Courtgatherto evidence”property

— thatenoughto do” to establishhe had license “[was]would thinkanyone
Id. atof Fourth Amendment.meaningwithin the thea search occurred”

1417.

theHere, entry surrounding garagethe area detachedWickson’s into
— “two distinctwhat the deems the second ofto evidence Stategather

— the Federalstraightforwardthis a one” under“renders casesearches”
“under, least,atfact,1414. In concedes thatId. at the StateConstitution.

Jardines,... toprobablyit does violate the Fourth AmendmentFlorida v.
— garage.”made around the Wegaragearound the the observationswalk

when,under the Fourth Amendmenthold that Wickson conducted a search
evidence, thehe intruded on areapurpose gathering physicallythe ofwith

— withinsurrounding undisputedlyan area thegaragethe defendant’s
— had to do.”anyoneis not what would think he license Id.curtilage “which

way, “permitting]...1417.Put defendant’s licenseimplicitat another the
the knock waitby path, promptly,to the home frontapproachvisitors]

(absentreceived, leave,”linger longer)and tobriefly to be then invitation
1415, citizen,far as to allow a let alone aprivateat did not extend soid.

1416,warrant,” garageofficer armed with a at to circle his to“not id.police
physical undisputedBecause Wickson’s intrusion on thegather evidence.

neithercurtilage gather “explicitlyof home to evidence was [n]orthe
homeowner,” 1414,by the at it was a search underpermitted id.implicitly

Amendment, warrant,aid. 1417.As it was conducted withoutthe Fourth at
therequirement,no to the warrant searchrecognized exceptionand under

Constitution,constitutionally permissible”not under the Federal“was
Arizona, 385, 390, (1978),andv. 437 U.S. 395 evidence obtained asMincey

was, in aauthority,of that same inadmissible state“bya result the search
(1961).Ohio,court,” 643, that theMapp Havingv. 367 655 determinedU.S.

garageof the the was unlawful undersurroundingsearch areapre-consent
Constitution, not reach the defendant’s claim that itFederal we needthe

774,N.H.Lantagne,v. 165also violated the State Constitution. StateCf.
(2013).779

following theconsider whether the evidence obtainedWe next
illegalfruit of search.suppressedmust also be as thedefendant’s consent
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Orde, (2010)260,N.H. (holding,State v. 161 268-69 under StateCf.
Constitution, that resultingdefendant’s statements and evidence from

warrant,search all ofthrough exploitation illegalobtained search of
search).fruit ofcurtilage, illegalshould have been excluded as “The fruit of

the tree doctrine the frompoisonous requires exclusion trial of evidence
through I,obtained a violation of Partderivatively Article 19 of the New

Constitution.” Id. at haveHampshire 268.We that therecognized doctrine
applies primarywhen “the a Fourthillegality Amendment violation.”[is]

Barkus, 701, (2005).State v. 152 N.H. 706 “If inthe evidence hasquestion
only through exploitationbeen obtained of an antecedent it mustillegality,

Orde,be 161 N.H. atsuppressed.” 268. the to“Accordingly, question be
whether,resolved is granting establishment of primarythe theillegality,

been at byevidence has come of thatexploitation illegality or instead by
sufficientlymeans todistinguishable purged primarybe of the taint.” Id.

In determining I,whether the taint of a Part Article 19violation
(1)purged,has been we theconsider factors: thefollowing

proximitytemporal police illegalitybetween the and the acquisi-
(2)soughttion of the evidence to suppressed; presencebe the of

(3)circumstances;intervening and the andpurpose flagrancy of
the officialmisconduct.

omitted)(quotationId. (holding that taint of ofillegal curtilagesearch “was
not beforepurged the defendant made incriminating statements to the
police”); 746, (2001)also Hight,see State v. 146 N.H. 751 that(holding the
State “failed to purgehad the taint of the defendant’s unlawful detention
and that the throughevidence procured the defendant’s consent should

suppressed”).have adoptedbeen We these fromfactors the United States
Court, 750,Supreme see 146 at hasHight, appliedN.H. which them to

violations, see,Fourth Illinois, 590,Amendment e.g., Brown v. 422 U.S.
(1975)603-04 (applying factors to adetermine whether confession “[was]

arrest”).exploitationobtained anby illegal Accordingly,of we conclude that
these factors are relevant to determining whether the taint of an illegal

when, here,search been purgedhas as the search violated the Fourth
Amendment.

argues that,The ifState from“[e]ven ] observations the area aroundthe[
search,the were angarage unconstitutional the defendant’s consent was

not vitiated because was not byobtained of the unlawfulexploitation[it]
contention,search.” In support of this the State first claims that “[t]he

clearly supportsrecord the trial court’s that thefinding defendant was
only with smell marijuana,confronted the of the fresh which . . . was not

added.)- effect,Inunlawfully (Emphasisobtained evidence.” the State
hisargues kept “open” lawfullythat Wickson nostrils while on route“[t]he
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use,” that the officers confronted thea would andvisitor to residenceany
route,while this rathersolely odor Wickson detected onwith thedefendant

thesurrounding garagehe made from the areathan with the observations
LaFave,1 SEARCHillegalwas an search. W.during what we hold herein

2.3(e),§Amendment atA Treatise on the Fourthand Seizure:
2012) (“The use isroute to a residence would not(5tij anyed. visitor773-75

ifsense, policethus take that routein the Fourth Amendment andprivate
legitimateforgeneral inquiryof a or some otherpurpose makingfor the

reason, eyes (quotationstheir and footnotesthey keep open...”are free to
(1986) (“TheCiraolo, 207,omitted)); 213 Fourthv. 476 U.S.cf. California

requireof the home never been extended to lawprotectionAmendment has
publiconpassing byto shield their when a homeeyesenforcement officers

thoroughfares”).
however,assertions, the court made noto trialContrary the State’s

the odorsolelythat the confronted the defendant with offinding officers
in manner. the court that Johnsonmarijuana Althoughdetected this found

andmarijuanadefendant that one of the officers could smell asked“told the
consent,”for this statement does not indicate that the defendant was[him]

other For the defendantexample,also not confronted with evidence.
that Johnson confronted him with evidence of the electric metertestified

ofAlthough testimonycourt the State’s witnessesrunning. the the“[found]
wife,” findingthat the and his thismore credible than of defendant is
that,immediately “[a]ccordingthe observation topreceded by court’s own

Johnson,. ofgave beingLt. .. the defendant consent after informed some
(Emphasisthe had made around the garage.”the observations officersof

added.) clarification, thatFinally, further the court the“[found]without
againstwas informed of him whilecalmly standingdefendant the evidence

added.)ofdriveway (Emphasisin his the course ten minutes.” Becauseover
unclear, whether,are remand trial courtfindingsits we for the to determine

consent,to his the defendant was confronted with evidence obtainedprior
the of area hisillegal surrounding garage,as a result of search the and

“hasthe the defendant’s consentfollowingwhether evidence obtained been
by exploitation by sufficientlyat of that or instead meansillegalitycome

Orde, atto of the taint.” 161 N.H. 268.distinguishable purged primarybe

that, withThe State if the defendant was confrontedargues “[e]ven
the the taint ofsurrounding garage,the observations made from area his

sufficiently when his consent toprior illegality purged gavethis was [he]
omitted.) found, erroneously,it(Boldinghis Because thatproperty.”search

occurred, asfindingssearch had the trial court made no toillegalno
the defendant’sillegality purged priorthe taint of this had been towhether

Instead, limited of the consent toanalysisconsent. the court its defendant’s
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freely,of itseparate given knowingly,the issue whether “was and volun-
atarily.” Hight,In State v. we noted that whether waspurported consent

ofvoluntary independentis a itquestion bywhether was obtained the
of a theexploitation prior illegality; “consequently!;,] byevidence obtained

the consent bepurported onlyshould held admissible if it is determined
that notvoluntary exploitation priorthe consent was both and an of the

added) omitted).146 at 750illegality.” Hight, (emphasisN.H. (quotation
stated,Accordingly, previously “whether,as the trial court must determine

primaryestablishment of thegranting illegality, the evidence beenhas
bycome at of that orexploitation illegality byinstead means sufficiently

Orde,to be of thedistinguishable purged primary taint.” 161 N.H. at 268.

that,Finally, arguesthe defendant the oftotality“when the circum­
considered,isstances consent given freely,was not andknowingly[his]

voluntarily,” “[i]nstead,. . .but was coerced.” “Avoluntary consent free of
is a recognized exceptionduress and coercion to the need of both a warrant

Johnston, 448, 453(2004)and probable cause.”State v. 150N.H. (quotation
omitted). “The burden is on the to prove, byState a preponderance of the
evidence, free,that was Id.;the consent andknowing voluntary.” cf.

(1968)Carolina, 543, (“Whenv.Bumper North 391 U.S. 548-49 a prosecu­
tor to rely justifyseeks toupon search,consent the lawfulness of a he has
the was, fact,burden of that the inproving consent andfreely voluntarily

Thisgiven. burden cannot be discharged by no thanshowing more
(footnote omitted)).acquiescence to a claim of lawful authority.” “The

ofvalidity the consent is by examiningdetermined totalitythe of the
Johnston,circumstances.” 150N.H. at 453.“Wewill disturb the trial court’s

finding onlyof consent if it notis thesupported by record.” Id.
particularizedThe trial court failed to make findings regardfactual with

to allegationsseveral critical underlying the defendant’s voluntariness
argument. For example, it did not specifically determine thewhether

in fact implicitly arrests,officers or threatened to make to use crowbars and
sledgehammers, away children,or to take the defendant’s if he did not

Instead, that,aconsent to search. it found “even theassuming truth of [the
defendant’s and Melissa testimony ...[,]regardingSocci’s] the[se] threats
the defendant’s consent was induced by[not] orintimidat[ion] coercion.”

added.) In(Emphasis ruling,so the uponcourt relied our inobservation
Patch, (1997),State v. 142 N.H. a by453 that theystatement officers that

“would apply a search warrant” if the defendant did not to aconsentfor
search him withpresented a ‘Viable to cooperation]” and “[did]alternative!

added).not necessarily Patch,vitiate 142 atconsent.” N.H. 459 (emphasis
note, however,We that alleged beyondthe threats here went “a mere

to the thatreference fact obtain a[officers] could warrant.”[search] United
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1998)(6th that397, defendant’s(holding403 Cir.v. 165 F.3dIvy,States
when, amongof circumstancestotalityundervoluntaryconsent was not

he arrestthe that wouldstatements to effectofficer madethings,other
consent,if didtheir small child he notawayand takegirlfrienddefendant’s

he obtain ato the fact that couldbeyondfar a mere referencewhich “went
(“Consents8.2(e),LaFave,warrant”); given§ at 93-94supra4[search] cf.

voluntarya have asuphelda threat to seek warrant beenresponsein to
course, ‘tradingthreat were notmaking policethat in the theof(provided,

omitted)).violation).”(footnote the extentToa Fourth Amendmentprioron’
—— if were madethey actuallythat threats eventhe court ruled these

consent,law, we United Statesnot, disagree.a matter of vitiatecould as Cf.
(“In(7th 1975)554, theBolin, view of the fact thatF.2d 560-61 Cir.v. 514

interroga-form while custodialundergoingdefendant the consentsigned
girlhe been threatened that hisimpliedlytion and hadonly friendafter

that the wasdid not we hold consentsign,would be arrested heif
added)); v.(emphasisinvalid.” United Statesinvoluntary and therefore

(D. 1999) that,48,Tibbs, 47, (noting53 once officerSupp.49 F. 2d Mass.
warrant,a serviceswhereuponindicated that he obtain search socialwould

consent,into if she “there wascustody,would child did nottake defendant’s
— hardlysigningthat she succumb consentquestion [to form]no would

(N.M. 2013) (inDavis, 10, determiningv. 304 15voluntarily”); State P.3d
consent, “[s]pecific indicatingof factors coercionvoluntariness defendant’s

arrest”).include . . . threat of violence or

ifimpact, any, illegalNor the trial court the that thedid consider
LaFave,4 suprathe of the consent.uponsearch had voluntariness See

8.2(d),§ ... a consent ... is not(“Unquestionably, [toat 113 search]
voluntary policeif the in the of an search find certainillegal... course

inpermissionthen the of theincriminating personevidence and obtain
to thatcharge place.”);of the searched search the balance of Stateplace cf.
(Me. 2012)Bailey, 535, (holding41 A.3d that defendant’s consent'v. 540

act,”authority, voluntary hemerely resignation police“was a to not a when
apartment policeform to search his “minutes” aftersigned consent

incriminatingof his thatillegal computer producedconducted an search
evidence). search arealight holding pre-consentIn of our that the of the

Amendment,the thesegaragethe was unlawful under Fourthsurrounding
whether,as to underfindings necessaryare to the ultimate determination

circumstances, free,the the “the consent wastotality [subsequent]of
Johnston, atknowing voluntary.”and 150 N.H. 453.

determine,for court in accordancetherefore remand the trial toWe
ofgave voluntarythis the consent freeopinion,with whether defendant “[a]

thetotality (quotationcoercion” under the of circumstances. Id.duress and
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omitted). byWe that “the evidenceemphasize purportedobtained the
onlybe if it is thatconsent should held admissible determined the consent

was and not an of thevoluntary exploitation prior illegality.”both 146Hight,
omitted).added)N.H. at 750 (emphasis (quotation

Vacated and remanded.

Dalianis, C.J., CONBOY,Lynn, Bassett, JJ.,and and concurred.
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